
M e m o r a n d u m 
To:  CAPCO Board of Directors 

From: Eden C. Harrington-Hall, Assistant Director 

Date:  April 29, 2016 

Subject: Board of Directors Meeting 

 

This is to inform you that a CAPCO Board of Directors meeting will be 

held at 12:00 p.m. May 5, 2016 at the main office. 

 

If you have any questions, or would like additional information about the 

Board packet, please call me at CAPCO - 753-6781. 

  

Board Packet April 2016 1



Board of Directors Meeting Agenda 

May 5, 2016 
I     Call to Order 

II. Approval of the February 25, 2016 Meeting Minutes

III. Standing Committee Reports

• Executive Committee
*Holiday Closure

• Finance and Audit Committee!  
• Motion to Receive and File Financial Statements.

   Resolutions: 
• 16 – 08 – is seeking your acceptance the Weatherization Assistance budget.
• 16 – 09 – is seeking your acceptance the Rotary Club funding application.
• 16 – 10 – is seeking your acceptance the SUNY Cortland Giving by Learning Grant

application.
• 16 – 11 – is seeking your acceptance the National Book Fund funding application.
• Board Development Committee
Resolution: 
16 – 12 – is seeking your acceptance the seating of Shelley Warnow as a Public Sector 
Representative representing William McGovern, Marathon Village Mayor 
16 – 13 – is seeking your acceptance the resignation of Miranda Greene. 

• PP& E Committee

IV. Executive Director Report
• Holiday Closure

V. Program Director Reports
• WIC
• Family Development
• Weatherization

o Power Point Presentation
• Head Start
• CDPAP
• HR

VI. Head Start Policy Council Update
VII. Old Business

VIII. New Business
• Greg Richards, HR Director – Staff Satisfaction Surveys

IX. Adjournment

Board Packet April 2016 2



Board of Directors Meeting Minutes 

March 24, 2016 
 

In attendance: Helen Spaulding, Paula Currie, Rama Haidara, Shawn Allen, Pay Snyder; Excused: 
Penny Prignon, Elizabeth Haskins, Cheryl Michales, Luann King, Mary Ann Discenza; Absent: 
Carole Ann Davies, Miranda Greene, Gary Dallaire 

Meeting to order at 12:07 

Although there was no quorum so no items were voted on, the Board did review the agenda 
and noted that all items for approval will be brought to the Board at the April meeting. 

There being no further business motion to go into Executive Session made by Rama Haidara; 
seconded by Helen. 

Executive Session to order at 12:38 p.m., and adjourned at 12:55 p.m. 

  

Board Packet April 2016 3



Board of Directors Meeting Minutes 

February 25, 2016 
 

I            Meeting called to order at 12:06 p.m. 
In Attendance:  Penny Prignon, Helen Spaulding, Carole Ann Davies, Rama Haidara, 
Miranda Greene, Shawn Allen, Mary Ann Discenza, Pat Snyder Excused: Paula Currie, 
Cheryl Michales, Luann King, Gary Dallaire, Elizabeth Haskins 
 

II. Motion for approval of the January 28, 2016 Meeting Minutes made by Rama Haidara; 
seconded by Carole Ann Davies.  There being no discussion or corrections, motion 
carried. 

III. Standing Committee Reports  

• Executive Committee  
Resolutions: 
• 16 – 02 – is seeking your acceptance the updated Vehicle Use Policy. Motion for 

acceptance made by Carole Ann Davies; seconded by Helen Spaulding.  Lindy informed 
the group that the current policy is vague, so it was updated to be more inclusive.  There 
being no further discussion, motion carried. 

• 16 – 03 – is seeking your acceptance the change to the 401(k) Plan. Motion for 
acceptance made by Pat Snyder; seconded by Helen Spaulding.  The current plan 
includes making employer contributions to eligible employees at the end of the calendar 
year. The proposed change is to make the contributions for eligible employees on the bi-
weekly payroll schedule.  There being no further discussion, motion carried   

• 16 – 04 – is seeking your acceptance the Authorized Signatories.  Motion for acceptance 
made by Carole Ann Davies; seconded by Rama Haidara.  The change was made to 
remove the previous Finance Director as a signatory for vouchers and financial reports 
and adding Martha Allen, Finance Director as a signatory. There being no further 
discussion, motion carried. 

 
• Finance and Audit Committee !  
• Motion to Receive and File Financial Statements made by Rama Haidara; seconded by 

Carole Ann Davies.  There being no discussion, motion carried. 
      Resolution: 

• 16 – 05 – is seeking your acceptance the Head Start/Early Head Start Refunding 
Application for the 2016-2017 program year.  Motion for acceptance made by Helen 
Spaulding; seconded by Rama Haidara.  The committee reviewed the budgets and noted 
that there were no significant budgetary changes from year two to year three being 
recommended and there were no proposed changes in locations, classrooms, 
staffing. There being no further discussion, motion carried. 

 

Board Packet April 2016 4



 
• Board Development Committee  
• The committee reviewed the proposed Board Self-Assessment to be used to identify 

possible training topics.  Eden will send the assessment via Survey Monkey. 
• We hope to have the two vacant seats filled next month.  Shelley Warnow is interested 

in serving as the representative for the Mayor of Marathon and Martha Bush has shown 
interest in serving as well and will be meeting with Lindy before the next committee 
meeting. 

Resolution: 
16 – 06 – is seeking your acceptance the New Board Member Orientation Policy/Procedure. 
Motion for acceptance made Pat Snyder; seconded by Carole Ann Davies.  In preparation for 
the upcoming TRACS a written process was developed for new Board Member orientation, 
we currently have a procedure for orientation, but it was not a written policy/procedure.  
There being no further discussion, motion carried. 
 
• PP& E Committee  
Resolutions: 

• 16 – 07 – is seeing your acceptance the Updated Community Assessment.  Motion for 
acceptance made by Rama Haidara; seconded by Helen Spaulding.  Lindy informed the 
group that this is an update based upon the full Assessment conducted in 2013.  There 
being no further discussion, motion carried. 
 

IV. Executive Director Report 
• The HS/EHS monitoring will be April 4th and the review will include HR and ERSEA. 
• The Agency wide Audit will take place in April as well. 
• Colleen Kania has offered to come in and help Martha Allen with the Federal 

Expenditure Report.   
 
V. Program Director Reports 

• WIC 
• Family Development 
• Weatherization  
• Head Start  
• CDPAP 
• HR 

VI. Head Start Policy Council Update 
• Reviewed the Refunding Application 

VII. Old Business  

VIII. New Business 

Board Packet April 2016 5



IX. There being no further business, motion for adjournment made by Helen Spaulding; 
seconded by Carole Ann Davies.  Meeting adjourned at 12:51 p.m. 

  

Board Packet April 2016 6



Proposal – CAPCO will close for the Christmas Holidays from Monday, Dec. 26 through 

Monday, Jan.2 to reopen for usual business hours on Tuesday, Jan. 3.  Monday, Dec. 26 will 

be a holiday (Christmas) as well Monday, Jan. 2 (New Year’s Day).  The four days, Dec. 27-30 

will be taken as accrued time (personal or annual leave).  As we did last year, we will 

communicate this closure to program participants.  We will have an emergency number 

listed on the answering machine and communicated to CDPAP participants.  Staff will be 

assigned to respond to any calls.  No Heat Emergencies will be responded to by Energy 

Services staff as needed.  As we discussed last year, Head Start classrooms are closed and 

staff have that time off (except for administrative staff).  It is difficult to accomplish 

Weatherization work as most families prefer that we are not in their homes during this time.  

By closing the Agency, we allow participants and our staff to enjoy the holiday time with 

family.   

To accommodate WIC participants, especially families that might have children born during 

that time, WIC will be open on Wednesday, Dec. 28 usual business hours.  This will be 

communicated to participants, and left on the answering machine and posted on the door.  

The Department of Health has approved this plan.  

If approved by the Board, this will be communicated to staff now so they have time to make 

these plans with accrued leave for this period of time. 

  

 

 

Board Packet April 2016 7



Finance Committee        April 22, 2016 
 
Members present:  Luann King, Helen Spaulding, Penny Prignon, Paula Currie and Carole Ann 
Davies.   Staff:  Lindy Glennon, Martha Allen 
 
Meeting called to order at 12:30 p.m.   
 
Martha presented the financial report for month ending February 2016 and updates end of 
March  (see attached).  All reports, filings, vouchers are current.  Over 90 days on Aged AP are 
due to HS/EHS leases, other maintenance contracts.  We had planned to have the 2016 
Agency budget for review and approval.  Need to wait till the 2015 audit is done for 
building information.  Plan to have the budget for review and approval in May.   
 
The Head Start Fiscal/ERSEA audit was completed the week of April 4.  It went well.  
Reviewer indicated he was satisfied will all information and was able to access all records, 
documents, etc. needed to complete the review.  He indicated no concerns or findings.  
The official report should follow in a couple of weeks. 
 
The auditors were onsite the week of April 11 to work on the 2015 Agency audit.  There 
were able to complete a good deal of it.  There are some things that Martha is working on 
and will be utilizing support from Colleen to complete (Federal Expenditure report).  This 
was the plan when Colleen left.  The plan is to have all of the work done by mid-May so the 
auditors can return and complete the audit.  We will work to have the draft ready for the 
auditors to present to the finance committee in June and full Board in June.  If this isn’t 
possible, it will be done for July Board meetings. 
 
CDPAP:  Billing for CDPAP is current.  Updated the committee about the meetings with DSS 
and Area Agency on Aging regarding opportunities for additional participants and revenue.  
Lindy and Eden met with representatives from Care Compass Network to discuss specific 
opportunities through DSRIP.    
 
EARLY CHILDHOOD   DEVELOPMENT:  Across all contracts, a deficit is not anticipated.   
 
ENERGY SERVICES DEPARTMENT:  New HCR WAP contract started 4/1/16.  NYSERDA EmPower 
has extended the current work agreement through August 31, 2016.      
 
FAMILY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT:  Grants submitted to ProLiteracy National Book Project for 
funding for materials for the Literacy Volunteers of Cortland County program.  
 
WIC/ EPC :  Contracts on track.  No deficit anticipated.   
 
Motion to receive and file made by Carole Ann Davies, 2nd Helen Spaulding.  Motion 
carried. 
 

Board Packet April 2016 8



Lindy presented proposal and budget for funding to be submitted to Pro Literacy National 
Book Project for $797.  Motion to approve by Luann King, 2nd Penny Prignon.  Motion 
carried. 
Carole Ann shared two resources for literacy.  Newsela.com and Innovative Approaches to 
Literacy.  Lindy will pass the information along to Gail Bundy.   
 
Lindy and Martha left the meeting to allow the Board members to complete the Finance 
Committees Executive Director Annual Review. 
 
Meeting adjourned at 1:15 p.m. 
 

  

Board Packet April 2016 9



Finance Committee        March 16, 2016 
 
Members present:  Luann King, Helen Spaulding, Penny Prignon.  Excused:  Paula Currie, Carole 
Ann Davies.  Staff:  Lindy Glennon, Martha Allen 
 
Meeting called to order at 12:30 p.m.   
 
Martha presented the financial report for month ending January 2016 and updates end of 
February (see attached).  All reports, filings, vouchers are current.  Over 90 days on Aged AP are 
due to HS/EHS leases, other maintenance contracts.  Working on facilities, administration, 
Community Action Angels, NYSERDA 2016 budgets.  Plan to have full agency wide budget 
to present to committee for approval at April meeting. 
 
CDPAP:  Billing for CDPAP is current.  Continue to work on increasing funding for this 
program.  Meetings scheduled for 3/18 to finalize plans with DSS for Enhanced CDPAP 
referrals.  Meeting with AAA on 3/18 to discuss ISEP and options for in-home care for 
seniors based on CDPAP program.  Also participating in a meeting about DSRIP and options 
for participation.   
  
EARLY CHILDHOOD   DEVELOPMENT:  Across all contracts, a deficit is not anticipated.  Full 
contract proposal submitted 2/28/16 for next funding cycle. 
 
ENERGY SERVICES DEPARTMENT:  Current Contract ends 3/31/16.  Production has been 
completed.  Staff are using this time to get audits done for next contract cycle.     
 
FAMILY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT:  Grants submitted to SUNY Learning by Giving and 
Cortland Rotary for support for the expansion of the CSA (Community Supported Agriculture) 
program.  
 
WIC/ EPC :  Contracts on track.  No deficit anticipated.   
 
Motion to receive and file made by Helen Spaulding, 2nd Penny Prignon.  Motion carried. 
 
Lindy presented proposal and budget for CSA support to Cortland Rotary.  Grant request is 
for $1000 (budget attached).  Motion to approve by Luann King, 2nd Helen Spaulding.  
Motion carried. 
 
Reviewed proposal to SUNY Learning by Giving in the amount of $3000 to support CSA 
(budget attached).  Motion to approve made by Luann King, 2nd Helen Spaulding.  Motion 
carried.   
 
Reviewed proposed budget for WAP 2016-17 in the amount of $375,000.  The full contract 
amount will be $400,000, but until HCR has approval from DOE for the full contract 
amount, we are being asked to submit the contract for $375,000.  This will be amended.  

Board Packet April 2016 10



Motion to approve made by Helen Spaulding, 2nd Penny Prignon.  
 
Lindy shared that the Agency 2015 audit is scheduled for week of April 11.  We were just 
notified that the HS Fiscal Review will be week of April 4.  Martha and Brian are working to 
make sure we are ready for that piece.     
 
No further business, meeting adjourned 1:20 p.m 
  

Board Packet April 2016 11



Board Packet April 2016 12



Board Packet April 2016 13



Board Packet April 2016 14



Board Packet April 2016 15



Board Packet April 2016 16



Board Packet April 2016 17



Resolution of the Board of Directors 

of  

Cortland County Community  

Action Program, Inc. 

Resolution No.16-08 

 

HEREAS, the Cortland County Community Action Program, Inc. Finance 

Committee has reviewed the Weatherization Assistance Program (WAP) 2016-

2017 budget in the amount of $375,000.00 and has recommended accepting as presented, and  

HEREAS, the Cortland County Community Action Program, Inc. Board of Directors has 

reviewed the WAP budget and accepts as presented. 

T IS HEREBEY RESOLVED that on May 5, 2016 the Board of Directors adopts for acceptance 

the WAP budget for the 2016-2017 program year. 

                                         _________________ 

 President 

 

                                             ________________ 

 Date 

 

  

 W 

W 

I 

Board Packet April 2016 18



Board Packet April 2016 19



Board Packet April 2016 20



Resolution of the Board of Directors 

of  

Cortland County Community  

Action Program, Inc. 

Resolution No.16-09 

 

HEREAS, the Cortland County Community Action Program, Inc. Finance 

Committee has reviewed the Rotary Club funding application in the amount of 

$3,000.00 to support the Community Supported Agriculture (CSA) initiative and has 

recommended accepting as presented, and  

HEREAS, the Cortland County Community Action Program, Inc. Board of Directors has 

reviewed the Rotary Club funding application and accepts as presented. 

T IS HEREBEY RESOLVED that on May 5, 2016 the Board of Directors adopts for acceptance 

the Rotary Club funding application. 

                                         _________________ 

 President 

 

                                             ________________ 

 Date 

  

 W 

W 

I 

Board Packet April 2016 21



Board Packet April 2016 22



Board Packet April 2016 23



Board Packet April 2016 24



Resolution of the Board of Directors 

of  

Cortland County Community  

Action Program, Inc. 

Resolution No.16-10 

 

HEREAS, the Cortland County Community Action Program, Inc. Finance 

Committee has reviewed the SUNY Cortland Giving by Learning grant application 

in the amount of $3,000.00 to support the Community Supported Agriculture (CSA) initiative 

and has recommended accepting as presented, and  

HEREAS, the Cortland County Community Action Program, Inc. Board of Directors has 

reviewed the Giving by Learning grant application and accepts as presented. 

T IS HEREBEY RESOLVED that on May 5, 2016 the Board of Directors adopts for acceptance 

the Giving by Learning grant application. 

                                         _________________ 

 President 

 

                                             ________________ 

 Date 

  

 W 

W 

I 

Board Packet April 2016 25



This grant funding would allow Cortland County Community Action Program, Inc. (CAPCO) to 

increase participation in our Farm Share Program. The program has been operating successfully 

in Cortland County for two years but has been limited in the number of people able to 

participate. The program currently operates on a $3000 budget. The grant funding from Learning 

by Giving would be used to pay for the CSA shares, direct beneficiary costs.  The program is 

currently able to serve 10 families. We have a waiting list each year that we are not able to serve.  

This additional funding will allow us to double the amount of participants as well as implement 

vital education and a “Share Bank”. The Farm Share Program which runs from early June 

through early November allows low income community members to buy into a CSA 

(Community Supported Agriculture). CSA is a way for consumers to buy locally grown, 

seasonal produce directly from a farmer in their community. A farmer offers a certain number of 

“shares” to the public that are distributed weekly.  This is a successful and cost effective way to 

get fresh produce to community members. This concept puts locally grown, healthy foods in the 

hands of the community members while helping to sustain the farm.  

CSAs are extremely cost effective and convenient but are still unattainable for low income 

participants that receive SNAP benefits (Food Stamps). CSAs require the full amount paid before 

the season begins, which is impossible for those who feed their family on a very tight budget.   

Our Farm Share Program is a collaborative project with Main Street Farms, a local urban farm. 

Main Street Farms provided the produce and agreed to accept SNAP payments from participants 

on a weekly basis and CAPCO who subsidizes the cost of the CSA by paying half of each share 

making it more affordable to low income participants.  Main Street Farms is able to accept 

SNAP & WIC benefits as weekly payment allowing participants more options for paying for the 

CSA. CAPCO will also be implanting new this year a “share bank”. The share bank is a loan 

system for when participants may be low on cash or out of benefits. Instead of the participant not 

picking up for that week we will encourage the use of the bank to borrow funds that need to be 

paid back within 2 weeks.  Not only will this allow the participants to benefit each week, but it 

will allow opportunities for them to support each other in the process.    

The participants of the program will be invited to attend monthly meetings in which participants 

will receive education on the growing season, recipes, and cooking demonstrations. Participants 

will have the opportunity to share their own recipes and ideas for getting their families to each 

healthy, nutritious foods.  The monthly meeting will also be an opportunity to evaluate the 

program. Evaluation will be done through group conversations and individual surveys.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Board Packet April 2016 26



 

 

 

 

 

 Budget:  

    Totals 

Salary 25 weeks 5 hours $15/hr. $1,875.00 

CSA Stipend 22 weeks 20 shares  $231.00  $4,620.00  
Education/Demos/supplies    $400.00 

     

    $6,895.00 

 

CSBG funding $3895.00 Proposed SUNY grant $3,000.00* 

*The Giving by Learning grant would be used direct beneficiary costs to pay for the CSA shares. 

 

 

 

Timeline:  

April & May 2016- Recruit families to participate in the Food Share Program 

Early June 2016-First monthly meeting/contracts with participants are signed 

June-November 2016-Weekly share pick-ups at 2 locations options 

June-November2016-Monthly meetings with participants that include nutrition education/recipes 

Early November 2016- Program Ends/Evaluation   

Board Packet April 2016 27



Resolution of the Board of Directors 

of  

Cortland County Community  

Action Program, Inc. 

Resolution No.16-11 

 

HEREAS, the Cortland County Community Action Program, Inc. Finance 

Committee has reviewed the National Book Fund grant application in the amount 

of $797.00 to support the Literacy Volunteers of Cortland County and has recommended 

accepting as presented, and  

HEREAS, the Cortland County Community Action Program, Inc. Board of Directors has 

reviewed the National Book Fund grant application and accepts as presented. 

T IS HEREBEY RESOLVED that on May 5, 2016 the Board of Directors adopts for acceptance 

the National Book Fund Learning grant application. 

                                         _________________ 

 President 

 

                                             ________________ 

 Date 

  

 W 

W 

I 

Board Packet April 2016 28



2016 National Book Fund® Application 
 

Deadline: April 15, 2016 (postmarked by) 
 

Please review the Application Guidelines prior to completing application. 
 

Programs will be notified of grant acceptance/rejection by May 30, 2016. 
 
Organization Name:      Cortland County Community Action Program (CAPCO) 

Address:            32 North Main Street,       

City/State/Zip:                     Cortland, NY  13045 

Phone:          (607) 753-6781, x 144       

Contact Person:   Gail Bundy 

Title:                     Family Development Advocate / Project Getting Ahead Co-ordinator 

Email:              gailb@capco.org 

What is the total dollar amount of NBF materials and/or online courses being requested? $760.90  
*Total amount requested MUST equal totals from both the New Readers Press and Online Professional         
 Development Courses order forms.  
 
1) Is your organization a nonprofit?  X Yes    No 
 
2) Does your organization provide instructional services at no charge to students? X Yes    No  
 
3)  What is your organization’s annual operating budget?   

CAPCO Agency Budget:  $7,492,234.55.  Project Getting Ahead ( Adult Education and Literacy 
Volunteers ) Budget: $70,  092. 

 
4) Provide a timeframe for use of NBF materials and/or online courses (applicants will receive 

materials no later than July 15, 2016): We will start using the materials for tutor training in July and 
August tutor training.   We will start using them with students in August 2016, but anticipate ramp up 
in usage after our fall campaign reaching out to new students and new tutors.  

 
5) How many students does your program serve annually? 80 
 
6) What is the projected number of students that would be served using the NBF materials? 30 

 
7) Approximately how many of the projected number of students served using the NBF materials will 

be new students? 20 
 
8) What is the average number of trainers, staff, instructors, and/or volunteers who participate in your 

organization’s program annually? 10 
 

Board Packet April 2016 29



 
Cortland County Community Action Agency / Project Getting Ahead Proposal Narrative 

 
1. Brief Organization Description. The Cortland County Community Action Agency (CAPCO) 
provides services to low income individuals and families in Cortland County, New York.     Mission:   
CAPCO is dedicated to providing and advocating for community-wide actions and programs that increase 
individuals' dignity and self-reliance and improve community conditions, engaging all sectors of the 
community in Cortland County's fight against poverty.  Services  include:  Head Start / Early Head Start, 
WIC, Energy Services, Consumer Directed Personal Assistant Program, and Family Development.  Project 
Getting Ahead is an education program within Family Development, which is focused on (1) youth and 
young adults who seek a high school equivalency diploma program and (2) other adults with personal life-
skills or literacy goals. CAPCO is also the home base for the newly formed Literacy Volunteers of Cortland 
County (LVCC), a program which provides one-on-one volunteer tutors to adults with low literacy skills. 
Audience: In Cortland County, 13.5% of the county lives in poverty.  According to the 2014 American 
Community Survey, 9.8% of adults over 25 years of age in Cortland County (2,934 people) do not have a 
high school diploma.  Of those, 872 left school before the ninth grade.  (U.S. Census, American Community 
Survey, 2014).    Of people over 25 without a diploma, 24% are living in poverty  (New York State 
Community Action Association, New York State Poverty Report, Feb 2016). 

 
2.Detailed Financial Need for the National Book Fund grant.  Funds will be used to expand the capacity 
of Literacy Volunteers of Cortland County (LVCC) to provide one-on-one tutors for any adult in the county 
with an identified literacy need.  In November 2015, as part of Project Getting Ahead, CAPCO provided 
office space to this grassroots volunteer effort started by several retired teachers who were deeply concerned 
about the lack of services for adults with low literacy skills. However, CAPCO lacks funds to purchase full 
sets of the sequenced text materials and volunteer tutor training materials designed for lower level ABE and 
literacy students.  LVCC complements CAPCO’s  high school equivalency (HSE) preparation program for 
youth , ages 17 to 21.  The HSE program was started in 2013.  At that time a Dollar General grant allowed us 
to purchase educational and testing  materials to support that start-up focused on preparation for the 
TASC™ exams.  However, our investment in Adult Basic Education (ABE) and literacy materials was limited 
as we did not have staff to serve those students.   The HSE program served 70 youth and young adults in 
2015.   Our existing funding from the Community Services Block Grant and the Cortland County Youth 
Bureau primarily supports two part-time staff and materials for the TASC™ / HSE prep program.   For the 
LVCC program, two part-time volunteers share the work of recruiting students from referral agencies, 
recruiting and training volunteer tutors, and supporting the adult learner / tutor matches. Administrative 
costs for the LVCC  program are currently covered from our CSBG general grant and a small ($500) grant 
from a local foundation.   
 
2. Use of  NBF materials to serve more students, or better serve those already enrolled. Before 
the inclusion of the Literacy Volunteer program, neither CAPCO nor other county agencies were able to 
provide one-on-one tutoring for adults at literacy levels below grades 5 or 6. The National Book Fund will 
provide sets of core sequenced texts and materials designed for low literacy students that will help volunteer 
tutors learn how to instruct adult learners which will allow CAPCO to provide better services to more 
students.  Our start up plan is to have two sets of key curriculum so that a student and a tutor can each work 
from a copy.  Currently, the LVCC has 15 volunteers who have attended some training, and eight student / 
tutor matches. We anticipate growing to at least 30 adult learner / tutor matches within the next two years.  
This would expand CAPCO’s entire adult education program to around 100 students a year.   
 
3. Describe the project for which these materials will be used. Include how students or staff will 
be informed, any training needed, and a timeframe for implementation.  Literacy Volunteers of 
Cortland County recruits and trains volunteer tutors to work one-on-one with adults with low literacy skills 
to assist those adults achieve their individual life skills or educational goals.  The program has been created 
through a partnership with the local R.S.V.P. office, local BOCES adult education, CAPCO’s Project 

Board Packet April 2016 30



Getting Ahead and five area libraries.  SUNY Cortland Literacy department has agreed to provide occasional 
technical support.  LVCC volunteer coordinators recruit and train tutors and work with local agencies to 
obtain referrals for potential students.  Then LVCC matches students with tutors who usually meet in local 
libraries or in CAPCO classroom.  The LVCC volunteer coordinators are networking with key referral 
agencies and attending multiple staff meetings to provide information about the new literacy tutoring 
initiative. As part of a county wide literacy coalition, we are planning a county-wide information and student 
recruitment campaign to be launched in late summer 2016. (See Response 6 below).   Leading up to that 
launch time, we will have training sessions to help volunteer tutors know how to use the new materials, 
sequencing structures, and teacher notes as a guide for their tutoring sessions.  
 
4. Describe the impact of these materials on students and/or tutors. How will you measure this 
impact? We anticipate that students and tutors will thrive using these materials.  Our current staff respects 
the New Reader Press materials, such as the Challenger, for the careful sequencing of adult literacy skills, as 
well as for the extensive teacher notes written for the non-professional volunteer tutor.   Students will have 
two forms of evaluation – grade level progress and / or progress towards goal. They will be evaluated at 
entry with either the TABE exam or the reading placement questions from the Voyager / Endeavor series (for 
students reluctant to take the longer TABE exam).  Students will also identify their individual goals.  We will 
retest students at three month intervals.  The tutors are also requested to make notes about progress towards 
goals on their volunteer time sheets. The volunteer coordinators will also track  both students and tutors 
about their progress in using the materials at monthly intervals.  

 
5. Educational training/background of your organization’s staff/instructors?  
Staff .  Gail Bundy, Project Getting Ahead Coordinator, brings over 30 years workforce and adult education 
experience to the program.  At CAPCO, she coordinated a three year workforce development project for 
low income youth and young adults. She has an M.A. in English. Susan McInvale, evening classroom 
teacher, is a certified elementary school educator, experienced adult educator and board certified mental 
health counselor. She has an M.S in Clinical Mental Health Counseling and an M.S. in Education 
Administration. Lead Volunteers. Lynn Olcott, volunteer tutor co-ordinator, is a retired educator who has 
spearheaded local advocacy for the low level adult learner. She has taught in adult literacy programs in 
colleges and in correctional facilities. She has trained teachers in Ethiopia and at SUNY Cortland.  She  
holds K-12 teaching certifications in the New York State and has a Masters in Education. Susan Connelly, 
volunteer tutor co-ordinator, is retired with thirty years experience as a special education teacher. She has 
worked with high risk teenagers and with adult learner programs. She is chair of the Cortland County 
Teachers Center and has a Masters in Special Education. Training. Our tutor training is done in 
collaboration with OCM BOCES Adult Education and RSVP. Since November 2015, we have held four 
half day training sessions for tutors and have instituted monthly “tutor talks” focused on different themes 
that tutors request.   The Family Development Director and agency Executive Director evaluate 
performance on monthly and quarterly intervals.  
 
6. Public relations/public awareness activities.  CAPCO is one of the founding partners in a 
county-wide literacy coalition managed by the  Cortland Area Communities that Care Coalition (CACTC) – 
a coalition of all the schools, agencies, and major employers in the county.   CAPCO is the lead on the Adult 
Learner Team, which is currently planning focus groups with adult learners to determine the best way to 
provide information to adult learners and to referral agencies. CACTC staff  with  expertise in social media 
will help us develop effective media to support a student recruitment campaign that will launch late summer, 
early fall to coincide with  National Literacy Month.  We will include National Book Fund in our 
promotions, website, and Facebook site.  The local newspaper (Cortland Standard) has published one article 
about the LVCC.   CAPCO’s Executive Director is on the board  of the New York State Community Action 
Association  and a member of Rotary. This new LVCC Initiative is being highlighted as a “Best Practice” 
volunteer project at the May 2016  “Meeting of the Minds” conference,  which is an annual meeting of the 
volunteer projects run by 49 community action agencies in New York State.  

Board Packet April 2016 31



1 copy # Copies Total
Breakthorugh Level 1 Set 43.6 2 87.2
Breadkthough Level 2 Set 43.6 2 87.2
Breakthrough Level 1 - Book 1 24 1 24
Challenger - 1 Set 112 1 112 310.4
Easy Reader - mandela 12.95 2 25.9
Easy Reader - Ghandi 12.95 2 25.9
Easy Reader - King 12.95 2 25.9
Easy Reader - Chavez 12.95 2 25.9
Easy Reader - Parks 12.95 2 25.9
Endeavor - Student 3 15 2 30
Endeavor - 3 teacher 12 1 12
Emdeavor - Student 4 15 2 30
Endeavor - 4 teacher 12 1 12
Endeavor - student 5 15 2 30
Endeavor - 5 Teacher 12 1 12 255.5
Lifeprints - Literacy level 16.5 2 33
One Season in the Sun 12 1 12
Yankee Doodle 12 1 12   
Teaching Adults Math 23 1 23 23
Voyager Foundations - Stu 14 2 28
Voyager Student book 1 14 2 28
Voyager Student Book 2 14 2 28
Voyager Student Book 3 14 2 28
Voyager Teacher Founda 10 1 10
Voyager Teacher Book 1 10 1 10
Voyager Teacher Book 2 10 1 10
Voyager Teacher Book 3 10 1 10 152

Wishlist Total 797.9 740.9

Board Packet April 2016 32



 

Board Development Committee 

April 19, 2016 

In attendance:  Mary Ann Discenza, Pat Snyder; Excused: Cheryl Michales Rama Haidara; Staff: 
Eden Harrington-Hall 

Meeting to order at 8:05 a.m. 

We are still in the process of looking to replace Janet’s seat.  Lindy has reached out to Billie 
McNabe at DSS to see if she’d be interested in being on the Board.  Billie works in the benefits area, 
specifically with SNAP.  She is well acquainted with CAPCO and the work we do. All present thought that 
Billie will make an excellent addition to the Board. 

 There being no further business, meeting adjourned at 8:25 a.m. 

  

Board Packet April 2016 33



Board Development Committee 

March 15, 2016 

In attendance: Cheryl Michales, Mary Ann Discenza, Pat Snyder; Excused: Rama Haidara; Staff: 
Eden Harrington-Hall; Guest: Shelley Warnow 

Meeting to order at 8:03 a.m. 

William McGover, Marathon Village Mayor has accepted the seat on the board and has chosen 
Shelley Warnow to serve on his behalf.   Ms. Warnow is very active in the Marathon community 
which includes volunteering at the Marathon Food Pantry.  Ms. Warnow also was the principal 
at the Marathon Elementary School, the Cincinnatus Central School and the Truxton Elementary 
school as well as serving on other Boards.  All present agreed that Ms. Warnow will be an 
excellent addition to the Board and Cheryl Michales made the motion the seating of Shelley 
Warner as William McGovern’s representative, seconded by Pat Snyder.  There being no further 
discussion, motion carried.   

We are still in the process of looking to replace Janet’s seat.  Martha Bush has been recommend 
as a possible candidate and Lindy is in the process of reaching out to her to see if she would be 
interested in serving.  

There being no further business, meeting adjourned at 8:30 a.m 

  

Board Packet April 2016 34



Resolution of the Board of Directors 

Of 

Cortland County Community 

Action Program, Inc. 

Resolution No. 16 - 12 

WHEREAS, William McGovern, Marathon Village Mayor has accepted an invitation to serve 

on the CAPCO Board of Directors as a public sector representative, and has selected Shelley 

Warnow to serve on his behalf; 

Whereas, the Board of Directors has reviewed the recommendation letter from William 

McGovern and the recommendation for the Board Development Committee; 

 Be it resolved that on May 5, 2016 the Board of Directors appoints Shelley Warnow as a 

public sector representative to the CAPCO Board of Directors and accepts Mr. McGovern’s 

representative Shelley Warnow to represent him on the board; 

Be it further resolved that should William McGovern leave office before Shelley Warnow’s   

term expires, Ms. Warnow’s seat will be vacated at that time per Federal Statute. 
 
 

- ______________ 
            PRESIDENT 

 
________________ 

DATE 

  

Board Packet April 2016 35



Board Packet April 2016 36



Board Packet April 2016 37



Board Packet April 2016 38



Resolution of the Board of Directors 

Of 

Cortland County Community 

Action Program, Inc. 

Resolution No. 16 - 13 

WHEREAS, Miranda Greene, Head Start Policy Rep to the Board has given her resignation as 

a CAPCO Board member; 

 

Be it resolved that on May 5, 2016 the Board of Directors accepts Miranda Greene’s 

resignation.  

 
 

- ______________ 
            PRESIDENT 

 
________________ 

DATE 

 

  

Board Packet April 2016 39



CAPCO Program Planning & Evaluation Committee 
April 19, 2016, 12 noon 

The PP&E meeting attendance was Shawn Allen,  Elizabeth Haskins, Lindy Glennon, Eden 
Harrington-Hall 

Excused: Gary Dallaire 

Meeting called to order at 12:15 p.m. 

Early Head Start & Head Start January and February 2016 Monthly Reports  

Head Start 

• The Parent Engagement Groups (PAG) have been very well attended.  HS 
• Dental/Incident Report - Dental screenings – 37% in January 41% in February (by end of 

year need 85%).  Currently, 150 have received their dental screening.  There are 3S need 
there follow-up.  If parents do not want to do a follow up the need to sign a form stating 
that. 

• Attendance in January was 90% - February 91%. 
• The staff are in the process of recruiting families. 
• Special needs 52 receiving services 
• As part of the Fatherhood initiative the program held an event with over 100 attendees.   
• HS fully enrolled, 200, Waiting list is small and the staff is working diligently to improve 

that – most on the waiting list are over income. 
 

Early Head Start  

• Family Services Report – 72 enrolled with attendance at 94% - if attendance falls under 
85% two months straight a corrective action plan will need to be sent to the Regional 
Office 

• Motion to recommend January and February 2016 HS/EHS Monthly Reports to the full 
Board made by Elizabeth Haskins; seconded by Shawn Allen.  Motion carried.   

 

Updates: 

• Waiting to hear about the funding opportunity through the Dormitory Authority in the 
amount of $300,000 for South Main – we should hear at the end of the month. 

• We should hear about the Learning to Give grant through SUNY Cortland in a week or 
so. 

• DYSRIP – we have met with the team from Care Compass Networks regarding funding 
for DYSRIP.  There are a 3-5 projects which we feel would benefit the agency.  Each 
project area have different dollar amounts associated with it.  We hope these funds will 
fill the gap created by the reduction in Medicaid funding 

Board Packet April 2016 40



• There is a multi-county grant opportunity from the State Education Department which 
we will be meeting with Opportunities or Oswego to look at what part we might play in 
the funding.  We would like to use the funds to hire a part-time Coordinator for the 
Literacy Volunteers program.    

• Hunger Coalition – We are working with 7VHC on two grant opportunities through USDA 
one is a Food Systems Assessment in Cortland County which we will be taking part in. 

There being no further business, meeting adjourned at 1:00 p.m. 

  

Board Packet April 2016 41



Board Packet April 2016 42



Board Packet April 2016 43



Board Packet April 2016 44



Board Packet April 2016 45



Board Packet April 2016 46



Board Packet April 2016 47



Board Packet April 2016 48



Board Packet April 2016 49



Board Packet April 2016 50



Board Packet April 2016 51



Board Packet April 2016 52



Board Packet April 2016 53



Board Packet April 2016 54



Board Packet April 2016 55



Board Packet April 2016 56



Board Packet April 2016 57



Board Packet April 2016 58



Board Packet April 2016 59



Board Packet April 2016 60



Board Packet April 2016 61



Board Packet April 2016 62



Board Packet April 2016 63



Board Packet April 2016 64



Board Packet April 2016 65



Board Packet April 2016 66



Board Packet April 2016 67



Executive Director Report       Lindy Glennon 
May 5, 2016 
 
Highlights for April include: 
 

• The Cortland Hunger Coalition organized and facilitated by CAPCO received the 2016 Donald 
Wilcox Civic Engagement Award through SUNY Cortland.  Thank you Brandy, Tyler and Nikki for 
your continued support and involvement in this important work in the community through this 
Coalition. 

 
• Continuing and expanding the efforts of the Cortland Hunger Coalition, we are working with 

Seven Valleys Health Coalition (7VHC) to submit 2 grants to the USDA for funding to support 
efforts in the community to address hunger and food access.  CAPCO is working on a grant that 
would provide funding to research and develop a Food Systems Assessment in Cortland County. 
To continue to address the issues of hunger, access to food and health and nutrition, CAPCO is 
working with 7VHC to organize a Food Summit for the fall 2016.  Plans are to involve community 
members, vendors, restaurants, farmers, elected officials. 
 

• The Head Start Fiscal/ERSEA audit went very well.  We received the final report indicating there 
are no areas of non-compliance and no corrective action plans are needed.  Congrats to Brian, 
Trudy, Heather, Martha, Melinda and Christine.     
 

• The WIC Regional Office made an unannounced visit on 3/22/16.  The written report indicated 
that all observations showed staff operating and performing to NYS program standards.  
Congrats to Kirsten, Deanna, Trudy, Cindy, Janice our Peer Counselors.   
 

• Eden and I met with representatives from Compass Point to discuss opportunities for 
contracting through DSRIP.  We think there are opportunities to support CDPAP as well as other 
programs in the Agency.   
 

• Family Development had a very successful Pajama/Book Party early April.  More than 65 very 
excited children plus their parents were here to get a new pair of pajamas, a new book and to 
hear William Locke read for story time.  Thank you Brandy, Nikki, Joyce, Amanda, Gail and Lynn 
for making that happen! 
 

• The management team has been working with Meghan Johnston to review and update the 
strategic plan to reflect outcomes.  We will be updating the full strategic plan in 2016-2017.   We 
plan to start that process in the Fall 2016 with a comprehensive Community Assessment 
process.   
 

• There has been no announcement about the funding we applied for through the NYS Dormitory 
Authority for work at S. Main.  The original announcement indicated decisions would be made 
by April 22.  The notification available at Grants.gov is that because of the overwhelming 
response, they are still processing and no new date is listed.  We’ll keep checking and keep the 
Board posted.   

 

Board Packet April 2016 68



WIC Program Monthly Report 
Kirsten Parker 
April 27, 2015 

 
• WIC had a very successful surprise visit from the Regional Office the end of March.  The report 

was very positive on all aspects of the program 
• I had the opportunity to attend the NYS WIC conference in Niagara Falls last week.  I was able to 

bring back a lot of great ideas and updated nutrition information 
• We are focusing on four goals this fiscal year.  I will update the board as we get new data.  The 

goals are: 
o Increase the WIC check redemption rate from 76.8 % to 80%.    At this point we are 

meeting our goal with a rate of 82%.  I am looking at redemption rates for all of the 
different types of checks each month and the nutrition staff are reviewing redemption 
records and discussing the reports with participants to find out why they aren’t cashing 
certain checks so that they can try to help them with new ways to use the foods or 
tailoring the package to foods that they will use with their families.  We have also been 
told that due to the new NYS policies, there are some stores that are not depositing all 
of their checks.  This will also have a negative impact on redemption rates. 

o Increase the percentage of fully breastfeeding infants at 6 months of age from 4.1% to 
6%.  The data that the state used for this goal is several years old.  We are monitoring 
the goal with our own data and we are averaging more than 6% at this point but there is 
a lot of room for improvement.  The rates for the months with the most recent updated 
information were October 8.87%, November 6.78%, and December 7.94%.  The peer 
counselors with Janice’s help, have developed educational materials on the benefits of 
continuing breastfeeding to be used at different ages and we are in the process of 
getting some small incentive items to be given to breastfeeding mothers at key infant 
ages. 

o Increase the percentage of child participation in the program from 52.99% to 54%.  We 
are targeting some outreach activities to children.  The good news is our caseload has 
increased, the bad news is that the new participants were not children, so the 
percentage has actually dropped a little.  Children made up 50.42% of our caseload in 
March.   

o Decrease the percentage of pregnant women who gain excessive weight during 
pregnancy from 52.62% to 50%.  We have developed some nutrition education 
materials, are in the process of talking to prenatal care providers and prenatal weight 
gain has been added to the county maternal child health taskforce agenda for this 
month. 

 

 
 

  

Board Packet April 2016 69



Family Development         April 

• Exploring funding opportunities for the Literacy Volunteer Program. 
• Family Development Staff are working with Seven Valley Health and the Hunger Coalition to 

write a planning grant through USDA to develop a Local food systems assessment. 
• The Second Quarter work plan is complete: 

o 8 new children receiving Snackpacks. 
o 7 new people participating in exercise activities to improve their health.  
o 23 people participated in cooking classes. 
o 22 people were referred to appropriate health care services and 2 received health 

insurance.  
o 167 new people received clothing or household item at Family Essentials. 
o 11 people received emergency assistance. 
o 10 people received help with heating cost through ProjectShare & the Care and 

Share Programs.  
o 16 new students enrolled in the High School Equivalency Program with 1 new 

student receiving their High School Equivalency Diploma. 
o 46 new families utilized Family Success Centers in rural areas. 
o 6 parents completed a parenting class.  

  

Board Packet April 2016 70



Energy Services 
Directors Report 

 
April 2016 

 
 
 

• WAP 16.17 -  We have received our executed contract back from HCR.  
We have completed 7 units in this contract, which means we are 4 units 
ahead of schedule.   

 
• EmPower NY- 2 HP’s completed.  Honeywell has just sent us 12 HP 

referrals which is equivalent to 3 months of work.   The current 3 year 
contract ends August 31st.  

 
• AO Smith –  1 hot water tank given out.    

 
• HEAP-    Program closed for the season.     

 
• Energy Savers-  2 units coordinated with Action Angels.     

 
 

 
• Training-   ****I attended NYSWDA Boot Camp for a week- worth 32 

credit hours towards BPI certification.  Interesting and I learned lots of 
tricks and new things about our business. 

  

Board Packet April 2016 71



 BOARD OF DIRECTORS MONTHLY REPORT 
 FROM HEAD START/EARLY HEAD START 
 MONTH: March 2016 
 
Enrollment:  

     
• Fully Enrolled 

o 200 Head Start 
o 72 Early Head Start 

 
Center/Office Updates/Policy Council Updates:  
 

• Policy Council meeting was moved to February 23rd and the Policy Council approved the 
Continuation Grant.  There was no meeting in March 2016 due to the late meeting 
scheduled in March.  The next Policy Council meeting is April 12, 2016. 

• During the February 2016 meeting; the Mental Health Integrated Service Plans, the 
Program Governance Integrated Service Plans, and the PFCE Family Outcomes from 
program year 2014-2015 were all approved. 

   
Old Business: 
 

• In the middle of the Self-Assessment process.  A huge thank you to everyone who 
participated. 

• Grant was submitted on the HSES system before the due date of March 1, 2016.  
• Heard from our Regional Specialist, Rita Stone, and we made a few minor changes, she 

gave feedback and just waiting for the final approval. 
 
New Business:  
 

• For the April 2016 Policy Council meeting; more integrated service plans and Agency 
policies (Dress Code and Improving Staff Qualifications) will be presented to the Policy 
Council. 

• Update on the federal review for ERSEA and Fiscal; we received the final report from the 
regional office and there were no findings. 

• The Nutrition Supervisor, the Lead Cook and Kitchen Assistant are going to the Annual 
CACFP Conference in Florida in April 2016. 

• Gearing up for the end of the fiscal and program year.   
 
 Executive Session:   
  

o Substitutes are consistently submitted to Policy Council for approval. 
 
  
 

Board Packet April 2016 72



CDPAP April 2016 
 

• Current Caseload is 63 – up 7 from last month:   
o 24 Fidelis 
o 7 ICircle 
o 2 VNA 
o 30 Medicaid 

 
• Referrals are coming in fairly consistently from all 3 MLC providers.  

 
• The MLTC subcommittee continues to meet with the Managed Care 

agencies.  Fidelis is in the process of have one representative as a Care 
Manager for the Cortland County area.  This will make it much easier for 
the participants as well as other service providers.  We have also identified 
issues with the Medicaid Transportation provided through Fidelis. 

•  ICircle has been very visible in the community and VNA is starting to 
referral individuals. 

• We are waiting for our 2016 Medicaid rate to be published.  Once it is 
published, we will be able to bill at the enhanced rate.  I have identified 
approximately 11 of the 25 Medicaid cases that I believe fit the criteria for 
the Enhanced rate.  
 

• We have received information from the Area Agency on Aging serving their 
ISEP participants under CDPAP.  I’m in the process of looking over the 
material and will be meeting with Martha and Lindy regarding a budget for 
the services. 

  

Board Packet April 2016 73



Human Resources Report 
April 2016 

HR Director: Greg Richards 

HR Happenings: 

• Hiring of Assistant Accountant: CAPCO hired an Assistant Accountant, Christine 
Townsend, as part of the Fiscal Department reorganization. CAPCO hired Martha 
Allen, Fiscal Director, in February 2016 and immediately began recruiting for the 
Assistant Fiscal Director following the departure of Shelley Barnhart in March 2016. 
During this recruitment effort, Martha worked with Human Resources to look at the 
current structure of the department. During this, it was determined that we would not 
hire for the Assistant Fiscal Director position, and instead hire an Accountant. The 
duties of the position remained the same for the most part, but the Accountant would 
not be immediately expected to take over the Director duties if needed. It was 
believed that the Accountant would acquire this skill set over time and earn the title 
of Assistant Fiscal Director. Due to the change in positon, Melinda Smith, Fiscal 
Clerk, expressed interest in the Accountant position. Melinda’s candidacy was 
reviewed and she was hired as the Accountant. Following this, recruitment efforts 
shifted to an Assistant Account position, formerly referred to as ‘Fiscal Clerk’.  
Christine Townsend was selected as the Assistant Accountant and began with 
CAPCO on 3/28/2016. Welcome Christine!  
 

• Personnel Policies and Procedures: The management team has completed the 
Personnel Policies and Procedures review and rewrite. All of management met and 
agreed on the updated policies. Our policies have been sent to legal counsel and are 
expected to be presented to the Board of Directors during the June 2016 meeting with 
Agency roll-out at our June 24th All-Staff Day. 

 
• New Employee Orientation: Human Resources has completed the creation of a New 

Employee Orientation Program. Human Resources has been collaborating with the 
management team and as well program in the development of a systematic process 
for orienting new hires to the Agency that met program guidelines. Management is 
currently in the process of reviewing the orientation and expected implementation is 
June 2016.  

 
• Wellness Committee: The Wellness Committee continues to meet on a monthly 

basis. Upcoming initiatives include a series of weekend hikes that will be optional for 
the staff to participate. 3 dates throughout May and June at local hiking trails have 
been selected. The next major event that the Wellness Committee is sponsoring is the 
Cortland Relay for Life on June 18th. CAPCO is putting together the CAPCO Crew to 
represent the Agency in this important cause. Currently, we have 25 team members 

Board Packet April 2016 74

https://www.google.com/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&ved=0ahUKEwjN8_Th97HMAhXLOCYKHdbYALEQjRwIBw&url=https://alison.com/courses/Diploma-in-Human-Resources&psig=AFQjCNHnkeY-Lp0i5p7vfe73dwNsJLjJcQ&ust=1461953607234154


signed-up with registration taking place up until the event date. The Wellness 
Committee has organized a series of fundraising activities including: 3 bake sales, 
bottle and can drive, Hoopla fundraiser, and Relay donation receptacle. The Wellness 
Committee is expecting a bigger fundraising effort this year than in years past due to 
the timeliness of our team organization and fundraising efforts.  This is a significant 
event organized by the Wellness Committee that elicits immense staff involvement.  

 
• June All-Staff Day: A committee comprised of staff from every program have been 

identified to begin planning our staff picnic/training day on June 24th. The 
committee’s first meeting will be the first week of May with the topics of training 
presentations, interactive activities, and catering to be discussed.  

 
 

Board Packet April 2016 75


	CAPCO Program Planning & Evaluation Committee
	April 19, 2016, 12 noon
	NBF_15-16_Application.pdf
	2016 National Book Fund® Application
	Deadline: April 15, 2016 (postmarked by)
	Address:            32 North Main Street,      
	What is the total dollar amount of NBF materials and/or online courses being requested? $760.90
	*Total amount requested MUST equal totals from both the New Readers Press and Online Professional
	Development Courses order forms.
	2) Does your organization provide instructional services at no charge to students? X Yes    No
	5) How many students does your program serve annually? 80

	Other required application attachments
	Send your application, narrative, order form(s), and financial information to:

	Cover letter.pdf
	

	Copy of book list.pdf
	Sheet1





